---

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI**

**NO. 2008-CA-01848**

RONDELL YOUNG

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CITY OF BILOXI

APPELLEE

---

**ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI  
SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT  
CAUSE NO. A2402-2007-00082**

---

**APPELLANT'S BRIEF**

(ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

---

Shannon Ladner, [REDACTED]  
Russell S. Gill, [REDACTED]  
RUSSELL S. GILL, P.L.L.C.  
638 Howard Avenue  
Biloxi, Mississippi 39530  
Telephone: (228) 432-0007  
Facsimile: (228) 432-0025

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

---

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-CA-01848

RONDELL YOUNG

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CITY OF BILOXI

APPELLEE

**CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The Appellant, Rondell Young, presents the following issues for the Court's consideration:

1. Whether the Biloxi Civil Service Commission's discipline of Rondell Young was not made in good faith for cause and not supported by substantial credible evidence and, therefore, whether said discipline was arbitrary and capricious, and contrary to the overwhelming weight of evidence and authority; and
2. Whether the Biloxi Civil Service Commission properly found that Rondell Young failed to satisfy his burden of proof by either testimony or written materials.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### Nature of the Case and Course of Proceedings Below

This appeal stems from a three (3) day suspension without pay imposed on Rondell Young ("Young"), a Code Enforcement Administrator for the City of Biloxi. (R. at 34-38, 413-418)<sup>1</sup>; (R.E. at 1-5, 17-22)<sup>2</sup>. The initiating official of the discipline was Jerry Creel ("Creel")<sup>3</sup>, who is Mr. Young's immediate supervisor. (*Id.*). Creel initiated two (2) disciplinary actions against Mr. Young simultaneously on November 27, 2006. (R. at 28-33, 34-38, 413-418, 419-424); (R.E. at 23-28, 1-5, 17-22, 29-33).

The first disciplinary action served as a letter of reprimand to Mr. Young, which addressed alleged unperformed inspections. (R. at 28-33, 419-424); (R.E. at 28-33). The Notice of Intent to Initiate Disciplinary Action stated the following reasons for the disciplinary action:

(a) Civil Service Regulation 10.01 (a) 1 regarding malfeasance, misfeasance, or nonfeasance in the performance of work or in work related activities including incompetency, inefficiency, or inattention of duty and

(b) Civil Service Regulation 10.01 (a) 2 regarding conduct detrimental to the department or City including dishonesty, intemperance, immoral conduct, insubordination, discourteous treatment of the public or a fellow employee, or any

---

<sup>1</sup> "R." is the abbreviation used by Appellant to cite to the page number of the Record prepared by the Circuit Court of Harrison County, Mississippi, Second Judicial District.

<sup>2</sup> "R.E." is the abbreviation used by Appellant to cite to Appellant's Record Excerpts, which are submitted herewith pursuant to M.R.A.P. 30.

<sup>3</sup> Mr. Creel simultaneously acted in dual positions for the City of Biloxi, as Director of Community Development and as Building Official.

other act of omission or commission tending to injure the public service.

(c) Civil Service Regulation 10.01 (a) 3 conduct detrimental to, or in prejudice of, good order and discipline.

[I]n that on or about the November 16, 2006 it was determined that: your inspection were not current. You submitted a request for annual leave to participate in a non-city related activity to be held on November 16, 2006, I made a note on the request form granting conditional approval provided that all of your inspections were current.

When you left at mid-day Thursday the 16<sup>th</sup> of November there were several inspections from Tuesday (November 14, 2006) through Thursday (November 16, 2006) left unperformed.

(R. at 31, 422); (R.E. at 26, 32). Mr. Young acknowledged the proposed disciplinary action, but considered it to be inappropriate. (Id.).

The second disciplinary action initiated by Mr. Creel on November 27, 2006, proposed the three (3) day suspension without pay, which is the subject of the instant appeal. (R. at 34-38, 413-418); (R.E. at 1-5, 17-22). The Notice of Intent to Initiate Disciplinary Action stated the following reasons for the disciplinary action:

(a) Civil Service Regulation 10.01 (a) 1 regarding malfeasance, misfeasance, or nonfeasance in the performance of work or in work related activities including incompetency, inefficiency, or inattention of duty and

(b) Civil Service Regulation 10.01 (a) 2 regarding conduct detrimental to the department or City including dishonesty, intemperance, immoral conduct, insubordination, discourteous treatment of the public or a fellow employee, or any

other act of omission or commission tending to injure the public service.

(c) Civil Service Regulation 10.01 (a) 3 conduct detrimental to, or in prejudice of, good order and discipline.

(d) Civil Service Regulation 10.01 (a) 4 violation of any rule or regulation of this code.

(e) Civil Service Regulation 10.01 (a) 6 repeated incidents of carelessness or a pattern of errors, neglect, and/or inattentiveness to job performance which are of a serious nature.

(f) Civil Service Regulation 10.01 (b) disciplinary action may be taken for any violation of law or of these Rules and Regulations. Generally, member misconduct will be addressed using a progression of disciplinary action. Exceptions to this progressive system may be made in cases of major misconduct.

[I]n that on or about the November 17, 2006 it was determined that: Caryle Draper called you on the Radio to ask if you could perform an inspection. You responded by telling her that you had just been with a difficult customer and that you could not perform the inspection that day and "if they did not like it they could kiss your ass". This entire conversation took place over the Radio and at the time there were two (2) customers at the counter who not only heard the comments but commented on them.

(R. at 36, 415); (R.E. at 3, 19). Mr. Young acknowledged the proposed disciplinary action, but considered it to be inappropriate. (Id.). On or about November 30, 2006, the Director of Administration, David Staehling, and Mayor A. J. Holloway concurred in the disciplinary action imposed by Mr. Creel and imposed the suspension dates of December 6, 7, and 8, 2006. (R. at 34,

413); (R.E. at 1, 17).

Thus, on or about December 6, 2006, Mr. Young filed a Notice of Appeal to the Biloxi Civil Service Commission. (R. at 39-49, 425-435); (R.E. at 6-17, 34-44f). Mr. Young appealed both disciplinary actions imposed on him, which include the letter of reprimand and the three (3) day suspension without pay. (*Id.*). The Biloxi Civil Service Commission declined to review the letter of reprimand imposed on Mr. Young; however, evidence involving the letter or reprimand served an explanatory purpose as to why the three (3) day suspension without pay was ordered. (R. at 492); (R.E. at 45).

This appeal arises from the decision of the Commission, which sustained the discipline of Mr. Young. (R. at 378-379); (R.E. at 46-47). As a result of the Commission findings, Young filed his Notice of Appeal to the Circuit Court of Harrison County, Mississippi, Second Judicial District, on April 27, 2007. (R. at 380-383); (R.E. at 48-51). After an oral argument before the Honorable Jerry O. Terry, Circuit Court Judge of the Second Judicial District of Harrison County, Mississippi, on October 3, 2008, the decision of the Commission was affirmed on October 10, 2008. (R. at 570-574); (R.E. at 52-56).

#### **Statement of the Facts**

Rondell Young has been employed with the City of Biloxi for approximately thirty-one (31) years, and is currently a Code Enforcement Administrator as a Residential Building Inspector. (R. at 510); (R.E. at 57). Mr. Young has received inspection training with the Southern Standard Building Codes and the International Building Code. (*Id.*). The responsibilities particular to a Residential Building Inspector entail inspecting the structural portion of a residence, including, but not limited to concrete slab, foundation, walls, framing, and the final inspection. (R. at 511); (R.E. at 58). As a

result, Mr. Young will visit an individual residence numerous times for inspection until the job is complete. (Id.) Mr. Young testified that he takes his job very seriously, as the inspection of a home is a life safety issue. (R. at 512); (R.E. at 59). As a result of his dedication to his job, homeowners have written letters throughout his tenure to praise Mr. Young for his job performance. (R. at 442-454); (R.E. at 60-72).

Due to Mr. Young's belief that life safety is of the utmost importance, he is compelled to uphold the building code governing the residences he inspects. (R. at 519); (R.E. at 73). As such, Mr. Young has the occasion to fail some of his inspections, whereupon the homeowner or contractor must bring the inspected items up to code to gain approval. Based on the knowledge that Creel had been overruling some of Mr. Young's code inspections (R. at 455-461); (R.E. at 74-80), Mr. Young prepared a memorandum dated July 10, 2006, to Creel that explained the effect this retroactive approval had on his job (R. at 462, 516); (R.E. at 81, 83). In his memorandum, Mr. Young stated, "I was under the impression....that Mayor Holloway requested 'the most stringent code possible, and enforced to the letter of the law'". (R. at 462); (R.E. at 81). Young's memorandum asks for Creel's help in preventing the problems from getting worse, i.e. contractors bypassing the failed inspections of Mr. Young and obtaining Creel's retroactive approval. (R. at 462, 516-518); (R.E. at 81, 83-85). It was further revealed in the testimony of Lionel Sentell ("Sentell"), Assistant Electrical Inspector for the City of Biloxi, that Creel does, in fact, overturn failed inspections:

Q. You have had failures be overturned by Mr. Creel; is that fair?

A. Everybody has that done, not just me.

Q. I understand. But it happens; right?

A. Yes.

(R. at 504); (R.E. at 86).

Mr. Young prepared a second memorandum to Creel on July 10, 2006, regarding the order in which residential inspections are performed, as Mr. Young was experiencing repetitive calls for inspections, which resulted in poor time efficiency. (R. at 463, 516-518); (R.E. at 87, 83-85). The aforementioned memoranda to Mr. Creel were prepared and executed in a respectful manner with the intended purpose of asking for Creel's help in resolving the issues mentioned therein. (R. at 463); (R.E. at 87). Notwithstanding the professional and respectful intent of the memoranda, Mr. Young received a responsive memorandum from Creel dated July 12, 2006, which stated the following, in pertinent part: "Knee jerk reactions to one-sided information and writing disrespectful memos is both unprofessional and immature." (R. at 464, 520-521); (R.E. at 88-90).

In or about October, 2000, Rondell Young was appointed to serve on the Harrison County Planning and Zoning Commission. (R. at 522); (R.E. at 91). Prior to accepting this appointment, Mr. Young obtained the approval of his superiors<sup>4</sup>, who approved the position with the knowledge that he would attend one (1) monthly meeting consisting of three (3) hours per meeting. (R. at 499, 522); (R.E. at 91-92). Mr. Young had not experienced any difficulty in taking three (3) hours of his annual leave per month from work to attend the meetings until September, 2006. (R. at 523); (R.E. at 93). On or about September 8, 2006, Creel held a staff meeting wherein he addressed several issues, including the approval of annual leave for non-City related functions. (Id.). However, the memorandum to all Community Development personnel memorializing the meeting made no mention of this issue. (R. at 465-466); (R.E. at 94-95). Following the staff meeting, Young

---

<sup>4</sup> At this time, the Director of Community Development was David Staehling. Mr. Young also sought approval from the City Attorney for the City of Biloxi at that time, Ronnie

submitted a request for annual leave for three (3) days during the week of Thanksgiving, which Creel then approved without condition. (R. at 480, 524); (R.E. at 96-97). Next, Young submitted a request for three (3) hours of leave with the stated reason of a Harrison County Planning and Zoning Commission meeting. (R. at 481, 524); (R.E. at 98, 97). Creel approved said request, but placed a condition on the approval and stated, "[i]f inspections are caught up at time of meeting." (Id.) Creel's conditional approval continued where it appeared that Mr. Young was requesting annual leave to attend a Harrison County Planning and Zoning Commission meeting, which is indicated by a request for three to four hours. (R. at 481, 483-486, 524-526); (R.E. at 98-102, 97, 103-104). In fact, subsequent to Creel's letter of reprimand to Mr. Young on November 27, 2006, he placed the following condition on a leave request dated December 11, 2006: "If for HC Planning Commission (non-City), this is approved only if all inspections are current!" (R. at 486, 525); (R.E. at 102-103). It is of note that the testimony of Jerry Rose, Electrical Inspector for the City of Biloxi, and Lionel Sentell revealed that Creel had never placed a condition on them requiring that all inspections be current for the approval of annual leave. (R. at 500, 501, 506); (R.E. at 105-107).

Prior to Hurricane Katrina, Creel issued a memorandum dated August 5, 2005, to all inspectors within the Community Development Department. (R. at 488); (R.E. at 108). Said memorandum reinforced the main points discussed in an inspectors meeting on August 5, 2005, and particularly required that "[a]ll inspections should be performed within 24 hours of being called in." (Id.) Mr. Young responded to Creel via memorandum dated August 8, 2005, wherein he expressed his reasoning for the difficulty in meeting such a requirement. (R. at 489); (R.E. at 109). Creel was unmoved by Mr. Young's reasoning and the policy remained in effect. (R. at 490); (R.E. at 110).

---

Cochran, and the Chief Administrative Officer, David Nicholson.

The Commission heard testimony from employees of the Community Development Department as to the difficulty in fulfilling this requirement due to the high volume of inspection calls it received per day and the inspectors' inability to remain current. (R. at 497, 505, 526-527, 528); (R.E. at 111, 112, 104, 113, 114). This was intensified as a result of the devastating effects of Hurricane Katrina. (R. at 497); (R.E. at 111 ). Patricia Rose ("Rose")<sup>5</sup> testified that "getting caught up would mean when everybody leaves there [are] calls on the nails. And I mean they pick up what they got and when they come in they have calls on their nails." (Id.).

Notwithstanding this inability to stay up to date, Mr. Young was not disciplined for his three (3) day absence from work during the week of Thanksgiving, but was instead disciplined for three (3) hours of annual leave taken in the same month for a Harrison County Planning and Zoning Commission meeting. (R. at 529-530); (R.E. at 115-116). Commissioner Birdrow questioned Mr. Young in order to clarify annual leave:

COMMISSIONER BIRDROW: Okay. As you understand the City's annual leave policy, I would like for you to clarify for me when you decided to take your annual leave whether it is to attend a non-City function or to go on vacation with your family what is the difference?

THE WITNESS: To be honest with you I did not think there was a difference. I have 275 days plus with the City and I thought if you turn it in it is either approved or not approved, and if it is not approved you don't go. And I have never known of anybody to be turned down.

---

<sup>5</sup> Patricia Rose has been an employee of the City of Biloxi for twenty-eight (28) years and is currently a Code Enforcement Officer, where she works at the permit counter located in the

COMMISSIONER BIRDROW: So in your view your annual leave can be used for whatever you see fit?

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir.

(R. at 531); (R.E. at 117).

Although the foregoing discipline is not the subject of the instant appeal, Appellant believes that it is factually pertinent, as its discriminatory nature serves as a precursor to the aggrieved three (3) day suspension without pay. Rondell Young was suspended for three (3) days without pay pursuant to an alleged comment he made to a fellow Community Development Department employee, Caryle Draper ("Draper")<sup>6</sup>, on or about November 17, 2006. (R. at 414, 513); (R.E. at 18, 118). Ms. Draper alleges that on said date, she was working the Community Development Department counter by herself and a customer called to inquire as to when an inspection would be performed. (R. at 491, 533); (R.E. at 119-120). Ms. Draper next alleges that upon searching for the service call without success, she called Mr. Young on the City of Biloxi radio to ask if he had the service call and if the inspection would be performed that day. (Id.). In the memorandum<sup>7</sup> prepared by Draper to memorialize the alleged events on November 17, 2006, she further states: **"I had a couple of customers at the counter at the time so I missed a couple of words but the next**

---

Community Development Building. (R. at 494-495); (R.E. at 82-83).

<sup>6</sup> Caryle Draper has been an employee of the City of Biloxi Community Development Department as a Building Permit Clerk for four (4) years, with duties that include answering the phone, taking service calls, receiving and logging in plans, issuing permits, customer relations, and weekly, monthly and yearly reports for the Building Department. (R. at 120, 535-536); (R.E. at 120, 123-124).

<sup>7</sup> Although the alleged event occurred on Friday, November 17, 2006, Caryle Draper did not prepare this memorandum until Tuesday, November 21, 2006, at the direction of Creel pursuant to her meeting with him on Monday, November 20, 2006. (R. at 538); (R.E. at 126).

statement made by Rondell was 'if they don't like it they can kiss my ass.'" (R. at 491); (R.E. at 119) (emphasis added). Ms. Draper testified that the customers at the counter overheard the alleged remark and made a comment to her in response. (R. at 534); (R.E. at 121). To further evidence Ms. Draper's uncertainty about the facts surrounding the alleged incident, she was unable to produce the identities of said customers. (R. at 537); (R.E. at 122).

In a prior incident involving Ms. Draper, Patricia Rose was forced to confront Creel regarding an alleged statement Draper had reported to Creel:

Q. You personally, have you ever talked to Mr. Creel about Caryle Draper?

A. I had one incident where she had come up to the counter and just out of the blue had said that I had said something that I hadn't. And so I went to Mr. Creel and told him I said, "I just want to make you aware of the fact I did not say what she said I said." And he said, you know - -

Q. What did he say?

A. He said, "Well, don't worry about it. **You know I know how she is and you are doing a good job at the permit counter.**"

(R. at 498); (R.E. at 123) (emphasis added).

Notwithstanding Draper's questionable credibility, upon learning of Ms. Draper's vague account of the incident involving Mr. Young, Mr. Creel initiated the aggrieved suspension without consulting Mr. Young as to his side of the story. (R. at 515); (R.E. at 82). At no time did Creel have a conversation with Mr. Young regarding the alleged incident prior to handing him the disciplinary documents. (Id.). Furthermore, Creel did not give Mr. Young an opportunity to rebut the allegations

of either of the aforementioned disciplinary actions, as they were both presented to him on the same day, November 27, 2006. (Id.).

In his testimony before the Commission, Mr. Young emphatically denied the allegations of Draper and further explained the reasoning behind his denial:

A. No, ma'am. I would not use that type language over the [radio], and I will tell you the reason why....Years ago Mr. Gillis, I worked for him as a Director. He, when we first acquired radios, that sounds unusual, but he made it clear that when you keyed that button you never know who is on the other end. It could be the Mayor standing there. Be careful in the words you chose [sic]. And I never forgot that.

Q. And how long have you followed that advice?

A. Twenty years. Twenty-five years ago.

(R. at 513-514); (R.E. at 118, 124). Furthermore, Mr. Young is not aware of any complaints being made against him from the customers who Draper alleged witnessed the incident. (R. at 514); (R.E. at 124).

Ms. Rose was not at work on November 17, 2006; however, she has worked with Mr. Young for twenty-eight (28) years and testified that she had no recollection of him ever saying cuss words over the radio. (R. at 496); (R.E. at 125). Ms. Rose acknowledged that there have been other City employees who have used profanity over the radio, but she had not heard of any of those employees being disciplined for that action. (Id.). In fact, Mr. Sentell testified about an incident where he admittedly used profanity on WLOX television news and received no discipline for his actions. (R. at 502-503); (R.E. at 126-127). In opposition to Mr. Sentell, who was not disciplined for his

admitted use of profanity on television, Mr. Young was disciplined for an alleged remark that he did not make. (R. at 513); (R.E. at 118). Upon receiving both the letter of reprimand and the three (3) day suspension without pay from Creel on the same date, Mr. Young proceeded with his appeal to the Commission of both disciplinary actions.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

There was a lack of substantial evidence before the Biloxi Civil Service Commission to support its findings that the discipline of Rondell Young was made in good faith for cause and without political or religious motivation. It follows that the suspension imposed on Rondell Young was arbitrary and capricious and contrary to the overwhelming weight of evidence and authority. Jerry Creel initiated two forms of discipline on Mr. Young on the same day for separate alleged acts. Appellant maintains that the motive for the discipline against him stems from memoranda exchanged between Creel and Young in July, 2006, and the resulting friction between them. Young was singled out by Creel with regard to Creel's conditional approval for annual leave requests submitted by Young to attend monthly Harrison County Planning and Zoning Commission meetings. To his surprise, Young received a letter of reprimand for his inability to satisfy Creel's unreasonable condition that Young must have all inspections complete before he is able to attend the monthly meeting. On the same date, Creel initiated discipline in the form of a three (3) day suspension without pay for an alleged uncorroborated remark made by Young over the City radio. Based on his vendetta against Young, Creel failed to investigate the allegations of Caryle Draper prior to initiating the subject discipline. Without first interviewing Young about the matter, Creel resorted to immediately initiating discipline against him.

The Commission erred in finding that Rondell Young failed to satisfy his burden of proof by either testimony or written materials, as Young presented ample testimony to rebut the allegations in support of the disciplinary actions taken against him. The Appellant respectfully requests this Court to reverse the Commission Findings, which sustains the City of Biloxi's action in suspending Young for three (3) days without pay.

## ARGUMENT

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