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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

There is substantial evidence in the record to support the CSC's findings that the City of

Biloxi's suspension of Young was in good faith and for cause and was without political or religious

motivation. The Order of the Circuit Court should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. The Circuit Court properly found that the decision of the Civil Service Commission with regard to Young's suspension was in good faith for cause and not motivated by politics or religion, is supported by substantial evidence and, therefore, was not arbitrary and capricious.

This Court sits as an appellate court in its review of the CSC's decision affirming Young's discipline. <u>City of Gulfport v. Saxton</u>, 437 So.2d 1215, 1217 (Miss. 1983). The CSC reviews the employment decisions of a city when a city has removed, suspended, demoted, or discharged a civil

service employee. <u>Patterson v. City of Biloxi</u>, 965 So.2d 765 (Miss. App. 2007)(citing <u>City of Laurel v. Brewer</u>, 919 So.2d 217, 221 (Miss. App. 2005). In reviewing the CSC's decision, the Court is confined to one issue -- whether the CSC's decision "was or was not made in good faith for cause." Miss. Code Ann. § 21-31-23 (1972). Section 23-31-23 specifically provides that, on appeal, the Circuit Court is confined to the "determination of whether the judgment or order of removal, [or] discharge, ... made by the commission, was or was not made in good faith for cause, and <u>no appeal</u> to such court shall be taken except upon such ground or grounds." Id. (emphasis added). In <u>City</u> of Jackson v. Froshour, 530 So.2d 1348 (Miss. 1988), the Mississippi Supreme Court stated:

It is thus clear that the scope and review of the circuit court, and of this Court, is limited, and we must ever bear in mind that it is not what the court, had it been a member of the governing authority, might have done in a particular instance, or indeed whether or not the court thinks a mistake may have been made, but instead the criterion is whether or not from an examination of the record there exists credible evidence substantiating the action taken by the city. It is upon this basis that the court determines whether or not the decision was in 'good faith for cause.' Courts are not empowered to supervise the intelligence, wisdom or fairness of the governing authorities, and no resources are available to a court to exercise such a function even if granted The task must be left to the governing authorities of the city. It is only when the record makes it clear that there is no 'substantial evidence' supporting the governing authorities' determination that a court can act, and in such case it must.

Froshour, 530 So.2d at 1355.

÷

As stated above, this Court's scope of review of the decision of the CSC is limited, and the criterion is whether or not, from an examination of the record, there exists credible evidence substantiating the Commission's action. It is upon this basis that the Court determines whether the decision was in "good faith for cause." <u>Grant v. City of Columbus</u>, 812 So.2d 976, 978 (Miss. 2002) (citing <u>Froshour</u>, 530 So.2d at 1355). <u>See also, City of Meridian v. Hill</u>, 447 So.2d 641, 643-44 (Miss. 1984); <u>City of Jackson Police Dept. v. Ruddick</u>, 243 So.2d 566, 567 (Miss. 1971). Most importantly, it is incumbent upon this Court to determine whether the order in question was within the power of the Commission to make. <u>Grant</u>, 812 So.2d at 978 (citing <u>City of Meridian v. Johnson</u>,

593 So.2d 35, 37 (Miss.1992)). On review, this Court looks to whether the decision of an administrative agency was unsupported by substantial evidence, was arbitrary and capricious, was beyond the power of the agency to make, or violated some statutory or constitutional right of the complaining party. <u>Martin v City of Vicksburg</u>, 850 So.2d 191, 193 (Miss. App. 2003) (citing <u>Mississippi Comm'n on Envtl. Quality v. Chickasaw County Bd. of Supervisors</u>, 621 So.2d 1211, 1215 (Miss.1993)).

Appellate review of an agency decision is limited to the record and the agency's findings. <u>Martin</u>, 850 So.2d at 193 (citing <u>Miss. Comm'n on Envtl. Quality</u>, 621 So.2d at 1216.) The reviewing court cannot substitute its judgment for that of the agency or re-weigh the facts of the case. <u>Sprouse v. Mississippi Employment Sec. Comm'n</u>, 639 So.2d 901, 902 (Miss.1994). The only disciplinary actions which may be reviewed by an appellate court are those which were actually appealed to the CSC. <u>See</u>, <u>City of Vicksburg v. Lane</u>, 2009 WL 1520095 (Miss. App.)(where appellate court had no jurisdiction to review claimant's prior suspension, since claimant's appeal was limited to termination and employer made no mention of suspension in claimant's termination letter).

"Substantial evidence", in the context of this Court's review of the Civil Service Commission's findings, has been defined as:

such evidence 'as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion. Substantial evidence means evidence which is substantial, that is, affording a substantial basis of fact from which the fact in issue can be reasonably inferred.'

Ladnier v. City of Biloxi, 749 So.2d 139, 147-48 (Miss. 1999) (quoting <u>State Oil & Gas Bd. v. Miss.</u> <u>Mineral & Royalty Owners Assoc.</u>, 258 So.2d 767, 779 (Miss. 1971)). It has further been explained that "substantial evidence" is

not an especially large quantum. It may be less than a preponderance but it has to be more than a 'scintilla,' . . . which means a mere trace or minute amount The evidence must be such that would make any conclusion based on that evidence a reasonable one.

Miss. Dept. of Corrections v. Smith, 883 So.2d 124, 129 (Miss. 2004). It is the employee's burden to show that the CSC acted without substantial evidence. Ladnier, 749 So.2d at 154.

In light of this deferential standard of review, the City submits that there is substantial evidence in the record to support the CSC's findings that this employment action was in good faith and for cause. First, Civil Service Regulation 10.01(a)(2) clearly prohibits employees from engaging conduct that is detrimental to the department or COB including "discourteous treatment of the public or a fellow employee, or any other act of omission or commission tending to injure the public service." The CSC heard testimony from Building Permit Clerk, Caryle Draper, who heard Mr. Young state over the City radio, that if "they did not like it they could kiss his ass". (T. at 189; R. at 289). Ms. Draper was embarrassed by both the comment and the fact that some customers standing at her counter overheard the comment. (T. at 189-90; R. at 289-90). Ms. Draper had no doubts that she heard Mr. Young correctly and she reported the inappropriate conduct to her supervisor on the very day that it occurred. (T. at 189, 191; R. at 289, 291). Ms. Draper had nothing to gain from reporting the conduct. (T. at 203; R. at 303). The comment at issue clearly violated Civil Service Regulation 10.01(a)(2) and the CSC so found.

Second, Mr. Young never denied making the statement over the City radio until the hearing before the Civil Service Commission. On November 27, 2006, Director Creel had a meeting with Mr. Young to discuss the incident. Director Creel gave Young the opportunity to give his side of the story:

... [w]hen I called him in I asked him if it was true. I asked him about both issues; I asked him about taking off and he said he did not remember; and I asked him about making the statement and he said he did not remember.

1 :

(T. at 250; R. at 350). Mr. Young did not deny making the statement when he was asked about it, one week after the incident, stating that he "could not remember." At the hearing before the Civil

14

Service Commission, almost a year and half after the incident, Mr. Young testified that he did not make the statement. Now, Mr. Young does not remember ever having the meeting with Director Creel, where he was given the opportunity to explain himself; however, he does remember that he did not make the statement. Regardless of Mr. Young's memory issues, there was substantial evidence before the CSC that the statement was made. Ms. Draper heard the statement over the radio and reported the incident to her superior that day. (T. at 189; R. at 289). Director Creel met with Ms. Draper about the incident and asked her to write a statement. (T. at 247-48; R. at 347-48). One week later, before initiating any disciplinary action, Director Creel met with Young so that he could hear Young's side of the story. (T. at 250; R. at 350).

Finally, the evidence before the CSC was substantial that Young was disciplined because he clearly violated Civil Service Regulation 10.01(a)(2). To put it simply, Young engaged in inappropriate conduct by cursing over the City's public radio. Young was disciplined for cursing over the radio and there is no evidence that his discipline was for any other reason. In his brief, Young attempts to muddy the waters with a separate and unrelated disciplinary action, which was not considered by the CSC. The letter of reprimand related to taking leave in violation of departmental policies was not within the CSC's jurisdiction to consider. (T. at 5; R. at 105). Like the court in <u>City of Vicksburg v. Lane</u>, this Court does not have jurisdiction to consider the letter of reprimand, since Young did not appeal that disciplinary action. Therefore, the only disciplinary action before this Court is Young's violation of Civil Service Regulation 10.01(a)(2).

The evidence before the CSC was substantial that Young was disciplined, not because of politics or religion but, because on November 17, 2006, he violated the Civil Service Regulation 10.01(a)(2) - the regulation that governs his conduct as a City of Biloxi employee. The evidence clearly established that building inspectors in Biloxi are not allowed to engage in conduct that is

÷

â

detrimental to the City, including the discourteous treatment of the public or a fellow employee. It was because Young violated this basic regulation by making an inappropriate and offensive comment over the City radio, which was overheard by other customers, that he was disciplined. The City submits that the CSC received substantial, if not overwhelming, evidence during the course of the hearing on which to base its determination that Young's discipline was in good faith for cause, and not due to any political or religious reasons.

The Circuit Court properly found that the decision of the Civil Service Commission was supported by substantial evidence and that the disciplinary action was made in good faith for cause; Therefore, the decision of the Circuit Court should be affirmed by this Court.

II. The Circuit Court properly found that the Civil Service Commission fulfilled its statutory duties to Young.

The duties and responsibilities of the CSC to City of Biloxi employees are outlined in Miss. Code Ann. § 21-31-23. Section 21-31-23 requires that the CSC conduct an investigation in response to a timely demand from the disciplined employee. Miss. Code Ann. § 21-31-23. The statute requires that "[t]he investigation shall be confined to the determination of the question of whether such disciplinary action was or was not made for political or religious reasons and was or was not made in good faith for cause." <u>Id</u>. The CSC is commanded to conduct those investigations "by public hearing, after reasonable written notice to the accused of the time and place of such hearing, at which hearing the accused shall be afforded an opportunity of appearing in person and by counsel, and presenting his defense." <u>Id</u>. A review of the transcript of the nearly seven (7) hour hearing conducted by the CSC confirms that the CSC fulfilled its statutory duties to Young. (<u>See generally</u> T. 1 - 277; R. at 101-377) The transcript of the CSC hearing establishes that both the City and

÷

Young had the opportunity to call witnesses on all relevant issues.⁹ The City submits that any due process rights conferred to Young by the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution were satisfied by complying with the statutory procedure of Miss. Code Ann. § 21-31-23. Froshour, 530 So.2d at 1354. As in Froshour, no contention is made here that the statutory scheme did not provide an ample opportunity for Young's rights to be protected. The only duty of the CSC was to listen to the evidence and decide the case in a fair and impartial manner. The record establishes without question that the CSC discharged that duty.

As set forth earlier in the City's Brief, in deciding whether the CSC's decision upholding Young's discipline was for good cause, this Court is confined to a review of the record that was made before the CSC. <u>City of Meridian v. Johnson</u>, 593 So.2d at 38; <u>City of Jackson v. Froshour</u>, 530 So.2d at 1354-55; <u>City of Meridian v. Hill</u>, 447 So.2d at 643-44; <u>City of Jackson Police Dept</u>. <u>v. Ruddick</u>, 243 So.2d at 567. Because he is complaining, the burden of proof was on Young to show that the CSC acted in bad faith and without cause. <u>Ladnier v. City of Biloxi</u>, 749 So.2d at 154.

Ladnier, 749 So. at 154-55.

9

The City would submit that Young's assertion that he should have been allowed to call Bill Prince is completely incorrect. First, the Appellant failed to comply with the Commission's rules and regulations which require that opposing counsel must be notified of any potential witnesses at least three (3) days before the hearing. Second, it is established law that the

^{...} rules regarding the admission of testimony and evidence before such an administrative body are relaxed and such a body has the authority to admit or refuse evidence as it reasonably sees fit. <u>Riddle v. Mississippi</u> <u>State Bd. of Pharmacy</u>, 592 So.2d 37, 43 (Miss. 1991) (formalities of practice, procedure and evidence as in courtroom proceedings are relaxed in all administrative proceedings).

He has failed to meet his burden, because substantial evidence supports the CSC's decision affirming Young's suspension.

The Circuit Court properly found that the Civil Service Commission fulfilled its statutory duties to Young; therefore, the decision of the Circuit Court should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

The CSC conducted its investigation and hearing regarding the propriety of the City's suspension of Young in a just and fair manner. The City submits that the CSC's ruling was reasonable and proper as it was based on an abundance of established facts disclosed before it which conclusively demonstrated that Young's discipline was made in good faith for cause and without political or religious motivation. In sum, there is substantial evidence in the record to support the CSC's findings that the City of Biloxi's suspension of Young was in good faith and for cause and without political or religious motivation. Accordingly, the City of Biloxi requests that this Court affirm the judgment of the Circuit Court. The City prays for such other relief as it may be entitled from this Court.